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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Good afternoon,

          3  Ladies and Gentlemen.  Welcome to today's joint

          4  Hearing on the Health Committee and the Women's

          5  Issues Committee.  This afternoon we'll be

          6  investigating the numerous issues surrounding breast

          7  cancer screening in New York City.

          8                 Breast cancer is the most common form

          9  of cancer in women, with an estimated 178,000 new

         10  cases expected in 2007 throughout the United States.

         11  While improved screening and treatment have helped

         12  reduce mortality rates, breast cancer is still

         13  expected to claim the lives of more than 40,000

         14  American women this year.  It is a common and deadly

         15  cancer that must be addressed with the best

         16  available resources.

         17                 Breast cancer can be far more

         18  effectively treated if it's detected early.  When

         19  found in the earliest form, women have 98 percent

         20  five-year survival rate.  If the cancer is not

         21  detected before it spreads to other parts of the

         22  body, the survival rate declines to a frightening 26

         23  percent.

         24                 Screening is clearly one of the most

         25  effective and important tools to combating this
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          2  deadly disease.  Different methods for breast cancer

          3  screening exist, but mammography is one of the best

          4  screening tools available.  Public health officials

          5  throughout the United States have recognized the

          6  importance of breast cancer screening and have

          7  worked tirelessly over the two decades to increase

          8  the number of women who receive regular screenings.

          9                 Unfortunately, despite the

         10  significant success during the 1980's and 1990's,

         11  evidence indicates that screening rates have

         12  declined over the past seven years across the

         13  nation. Here in New York City screening rates have

         14  declined from 77 to 73 percent.  These declines are

         15  simply unacceptable.  The increased use of

         16  mammography has without question dramatically

         17  reduced the number of women who die from this brutal

         18  and all too common cancer.              The

         19  government has succeeded once in increasing breast

         20  cancer screening rates, and it must redouble its

         21  efforts and repeat the public health successes of

         22  the 1990's.  Increasing breast cancer screening

         23  rates should be among the most critical and vital

         24  goals of public officials, both in New York City and

         25  nationally.
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          2                 Today's Hearing will inaugurate a

          3  dialogue between the leading public health officials

          4  and the City Council in how we can work together to

          5  ensure that as many women as possible are screened

          6  for breast cancer.  I look forward to working with

          7  all of you in the coming months to achieve this

          8  goal.

          9                 At this time, I'd like introduce my

         10  colleague, Council Member Helen Sears, Chair of the

         11  Women's Issues Committee, who will also be making an

         12  opening statement.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair.  Actually, Councilman Rivera has covered the

         15  important issues that what has brought us to this

         16  Hearing today, the decline in the numbers of those

         17  who have mammographies, the fact that it is the

         18  leading cause of cancer in women, the fact that

         19  although it is the best tool for detecting cancer,

         20  unless they're at high risk, they're encouraged to

         21  do that before the age of 40.

         22                 Even though we have had in the two

         23  years dropped four percent from 77 to 73, there are

         24  reasons why that is happening.  I think it's a

         25  myriad of reasons.  I think that it has to do with
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          2  the thought that perhaps if you don't have it before

          3  the age of 40, that stops women in their 30's from

          4  doing it.  It may even stop teenagers who may have

          5  some problems where they should do that.  So I think

          6  we need to look at realistically should women below

          7  the age of 40 have a mammography?

          8                 Secondly, and I don't know the answer

          9  this, but I think we need to look at whether

         10  insurance carriers, and I don't know the age for

         11  that, that in the family health planning plans, is

         12  there is a specific age where mammography

         13  examinations are covered? I don't know the answer to

         14  that, but that could be a very serious deterrent

         15  from having these examinations.

         16                 So I would like us to look at why and

         17  what we can do in both Committees in order to see

         18  that those rates are not dropping but that they're

         19  going up.  I think there's confusion.  I think

         20  there's confusion as to who or what should get them,

         21  and I also think we need to talk about the

         22  technology because since this is a hearing, the

         23  technology should be advanced.  Women and young

         24  girls should not be having mammographies with very

         25  old equipment for one serious reason, it hurts so
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          2  much.  And because it hurts so much, they will not

          3  go back a second time, so when we talk about

          4  advanced technology, we must include mammography

          5  technology in order to ease that problem.

          6                 So with that, I'm going to say thank

          7  you all for being here.  I thank Councilman Rivera

          8  for co-chairing with me, and with that, will turn it

          9  over to our first speaker.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         11  much.  Before we begin with the testimony, I want to

         12  introduce my colleagues who joined us here today.

         13  To my far left, we have the majority rep. Of the New

         14  York City Council, Council Member Inez Dickens.

         15  Next to her we have a great leader in the Borough of

         16  Brooklyn, Council Member Charles Barron.  To my

         17  right we have another great leader in the Borough of

         18  Brooklyn, Council Member Kendall Stewart, and of

         19  course we have our Legal Counsels here today, Adira

         20  and Baaba.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  And if I must

         22  interject here, Councilman Barron and Councilman

         23  Stewart are members of the Women's Committee, so

         24  with that, I had to say that, and they are wonderful

         25  members.  If there's anybody that takes up all the
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          2  issues and the causes for women, it's these two, so

          3  I'm delighted and they're on the Committee.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  And also I want

          5  to make reference to the fact that our speaker has

          6  taken a very strong position on this and has

          7  actually had a drive last month where she herself

          8  went out and led by example by getting a

          9  mammography, very publicized, on T.V.  She did it to

         10  spearhead the message and the agenda that we got to

         11  get increased testing out there, but with that being

         12  said, I want to invite Lynn Silver, who's always

         13  here with us talking about health issues, and Dr.

         14  Benjamin Mojica from the New York City Health and

         15  Hospitals Corporation.  You may begin.

         16                 DR. SILVER:  Good morning, Chairman

         17  Rivera, Chairwoman Sears, Councilman Barron,

         18  Stewart, Dickens, Councilwoman Dickens.  Thank you

         19  for your support and your concern around women's

         20  health issues.  My name is Dr. Lynn Silver.  I'm

         21  Assistant Commissioner for Chronic Disease

         22  Prevention and Control at the New York City

         23  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.  On behalf

         24  of Commissioner of Frieden, I would like to thank

         25  you for the opportunity to discuss breast cancer
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          2  screening in New York City.

          3                 Breast cancer, as you mentioned,

          4  kills more than 1,200 New York City women per year

          5  and more non- smoking women than any other cancer.

          6  The average breast cancer incidence rate for 2002 to

          7  2004 dropped to 112 per 100,000 women from 126 in

          8  the prior five- year period.  While statistically

          9  significant, we remain concerned that this decline

         10  could be a result of decrease in mammography and

         11  that the rates might start increasing as existing

         12  cancers are detected at later stages although there

         13  does appear to be a national trend to decreasing

         14  incidents as well.

         15                 Breast cancer is one of several

         16  common cancers for which screening and early

         17  detection will clearly save lives. Indeed, getting

         18  New Yorkers screened for cancer, including breast

         19  cancer, is one of the Department's Take Care in New

         20  York, priorities, and we've been working closely

         21  with our Take Care in New York partners to highlight

         22  the importance of routine mammography.

         23                 The departmental guidelines encourage

         24  women 40 and older to get a mammogram every one to

         25  two years.  We appreciate the Council's interest and
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          2  commitment to cancer prevention and care, and we

          3  applaud Speaker Quinn's recent efforts to promote

          4  best breast cancer screening.  DOHMH is also pleased

          5  to assist Speaker Quinn in her initiative to place

          6  mammography screening information in women's

          7  dressing rooms.

          8                 Additionally, Council funds have been

          9  used to support cancer survivors and to expand the

         10  use of colonoscopy to screen under and uninsured New

         11  Yorkers for colorectal cancer. Again, we thank the

         12  Council for the recent commitment of resources to

         13  these activities.  This support has been critical to

         14  the Department's efforts to increase rates of

         15  screening for colon cancer and for other cancer

         16  prevention activities.

         17                 The Department shares the Council's

         18  concern regarding the recent drop in mammography

         19  rates.  After many years of increasing rates of use

         20  of mammography, national screening rates leveled off

         21  in 2000.  In 2005, there was a decrease in the

         22  number of women receiving mammograms, both

         23  nationally and in New York City.  The Department's

         24  annual community health survey has been invaluable

         25  for detecting and monitoring this drop and for
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          2  pinpointing which populations are most at risk for

          3  not getting screened.

          4                 The Community Health Survey is an

          5  annual telephone survey of 10,000 New Yorkers

          6  modeled after a similar survey administered

          7  nationally by the Centers for Disease Control and

          8  Prevention.  This survey provides policymakers,

          9  community- based organizations, academic

         10  institutions, and the general public with a unique

         11  tool to monitor the health and mental health of its

         12  population.  The CHS data for those interested is

         13  easily accessible using the EPI query function on

         14  the DOHMH website.

         15                 Our 2005 Community Health Survey

         16  highlighted the drop in mammography since 2002 in

         17  the number of women aged 40 and over who reported

         18  having had a mammogram within the past two years.

         19  This fall meant effectively that 105,000 fewer New

         20  York women were screened for breast cancer in the

         21  time preceding 2005 than had been in the period

         22  preceding the 2002 study.

         23                 Disadvantaged women in New York City

         24  are still the least likely to be screened.  In 2005,

         25  women who were younger, uninsured and without a
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          2  primary care provider, as in previous years, were

          3  less likely than other women to have received a

          4  mammogram.  Only 55 percent of uninsured women

          5  reported recent mammograms compared to 74 percent of

          6  insured women.

          7                 However, the groups that had

          8  experienced significant drops in mammograms were

          9  different than our usual suspects, so to speak.

         10  These groups included older women, age 65 and older,

         11  women who were white, women who are U.S. born, women

         12  living in Manhattan, and women who have a college

         13  education, groups not traditionally represented by

         14  decreasing health indicator rates.

         15                 Several hypotheses exist to explain

         16  the decline in mammography rates.  These include

         17  possible uncertainty regarding the value of

         18  screening as a result of changing guidelines, for

         19  example, the age at which a woman should receive her

         20  first mammogram, misconceptions of the risk of

         21  breast cancer mortality, higher co-payments for

         22  office visits, decreased provider capacity for

         23  mammography possibly related to lower reimbursement

         24  by insurers, rising malpractice litigation against

         25  radiologists who read mammograms, or fewer
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          2  radiologists choosing to specialize in breast

          3  imaging.  Note that these are just hypotheses that

          4  have been put forth.

          5                 Of note, however, is that our 2006

          6  Community Health Survey data did show a two percent

          7  increase in mammography rates with respect to 2005.

          8  However, that increase was not statistically

          9  significant, and we will need additional years of

         10  data to know for sure if this is a real trend

         11  towards recuperation or not.

         12                 Returning to the preceding data

         13  documenting the fall, in 2006, the Department's

         14  Cancer Prevention and Control Program secured

         15  funding from the New York Community Trust to study

         16  the reasons behind the rate drop in New York City

         17  and to help us better understand the existing

         18  barriers to mammography.  Our research utilizes

         19  focus groups of women who have not had a mammogram

         20  to explore systemic and individual factors that are

         21  viewed as barriers to screening.  We are also

         22  engaging primary care providers, OB-GYN physicians,

         23  and radiologists to examine provider related factors

         24  that may be affecting mammogram rates, including

         25  those mentioned previously.
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          2                 In order to understand other more

          3  systemic factors in the decline, such as

          4  reimbursement rates, we will be interviewing

          5  individuals, including representatives from medical

          6  societies, managers of radiology fellowship

          7  programs, commercial and public health plans.

          8  Finally, we are surveying a sample of sites that

          9  perform mammography to capture the current snapshot

         10  of mammogram appointment waiting times.

         11                 I will have to say that preliminary

         12  data from our analyses, both of the CHS data and

         13  calling do not suggest that wait time or rising

         14  uninsurance can explain the fall in the mammography

         15  rates although we actually don't have comparable

         16  wait time data. We just have one cross- section, but

         17  this research is still underway, and we don't have

         18  final results yet.

         19                 The outcomes of this research will

         20  help the cancer prevention program in trying to

         21  shape and implement interventions that can

         22  effectively address the barriers identified.

         23                 In addition to this research that

         24  aims to really clarify and better understand what's

         25  going on, the Department is involved in a variety of
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          2  other efforts that encourage breast cancer

          3  screening.

          4                 As my colleagues from the primary

          5  care information project testified in January, the

          6  Administration, with support from the Council, has

          7  committed to increasing the use of health

          8  information technology in primary care.  An

          9  electronic medical record designed specifically for

         10  primary care has a focus on prevention, including

         11  cancer screening.  The electronic medical record

         12  includes detailed prompts for key cancer screening

         13  tests, including mammography and provider reminder

         14  systems to help ensure appropriate referrals.

         15                 Just to give you an idea, so a woman

         16  my age walks into a doctor's office for a

         17  consultation, if the electronic medical record

         18  system does not have a record of the woman having

         19  had her appropriate mammography screening, a signal

         20  will come onto the screen for the physician, this

         21  woman should be referred for mammography, and

         22  there's good evidence that that tends to increase

         23  referral rates.

         24                 We anticipate that the first wave of

         25  practices will begin using this technology later
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          2  this year, and our overall goal is to reach at least

          3  1,000 providers in the immediate future in high

          4  volume Medicaid practices.

          5                 Additionally, our public health

          6  detailing program has been distributing preventative

          7  care guidelines and office tools to primary care

          8  providers citywide to increase the rate of referral

          9  for preventive procedures.  These materials have

         10  general information about cancer screening and

         11  prevention and help to increase referrals for

         12  mammography.  We've been getting very positive

         13  feedback and many, many re- order requests from

         14  primary care physicians for these materials.

         15                 With the support of the Council, the

         16  cancer prevention program has also been working with

         17  the American Italian Cancer Foundation's mammography

         18  program, which provided over 3,000 mammograms in the

         19  last Fiscal Year.  In addition, the City Council

         20  grant to the American Cancer Society, which

         21  primarily funds colonoscopy, also supports a peer

         22  navigator program, many of whom are breast cancer

         23  survivors who support other women being diagnosed

         24  with cancer.

         25                 Other key ongoing breast screening
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          2  initiatives include eight New York State supported

          3  healthy women's partnerships, which are located

          4  throughout the five boroughs, many of which are in

          5  collaboration with HHC.  These initiatives cover the

          6  cost of screening and treatment for under and

          7  uninsured women. And, of course, we would like to

          8  recognize the important work of the Health and

          9  Hospital Corporation, which increased the number of

         10  women screened by more than 12 percent since 2005

         11  and identified 9 percent more early stage cancers

         12  where there's a much better prognosis for successful

         13  treatment.

         14                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         15  to testify on this important issue.  We appreciate

         16  the Council's interest in the challenge of

         17  increasing mammography rates, and we look forward to

         18  working with you as we develop additional programs

         19  to fight breast cancer in New York City.  I'm

         20  pleased to answer any questions you may have.

         21                 DR. MOJICA:  Thank you very much.

         22  Good afternoon, Chairperson Rivera and Sears and

         23  Members of the Committee on Health and Women's

         24  Issues.  I am Dr. Benjamin Mojica, Senior Assistant

         25  Vice- President and Deputy Chief Medical Officer for
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          2  the New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation.

          3  Thank you for the opportunity to discuss HHC's

          4  efforts to screen patients for breast cancer.  I

          5  would also like to commend the Council for its

          6  ongoing leadership in raising awareness in important

          7  public health issues at today's hearing and at

          8  hearings earlier this year on cervical cancer

          9  screening in March and on overcoming language

         10  barriers in health care settings in April.

         11                 Cancer is one of the ten most common

         12  causes of death, and breast cancer is the second

         13  leading cause of death in women, exceeded only by

         14  lung cancer.  In 2005, 13,366 New Yorkers died from

         15  cancer, nearly one- quarter of all deaths.  Of

         16  these, 1,263 died of breast cancer, 1,254 of whom

         17  are women.  The chance that breast cancer will be

         18  responsible for a woman's death is about 1 in 33

         19  percent.

         20                 In New York City, approximately 5,000

         21  women are diagnosed with breast cancer every year.

         22  In 2005, a total of 642 women were diagnosed with

         23  breast cancer at HHC facilities. Nationwide, 178,480

         24  new cases of invasive breast cancer and an

         25  additional 62,030 carcinoma in situ will be
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          2  diagnosed in 2007.  Men also get breast cancer, but

          3  it is very rare.  It is estimated that one in eight

          4  women will develop breast cancer sometime during her

          5  lifetime.

          6                 The prevention of breast cancer

          7  continues to be challenging, as the specific causes

          8  of breast cancer remain elusive.  Furthermore,

          9  except for smoking, obesity and lack of exercise,

         10  most of the risk factors associated with breast

         11  cancer cannot be easily controlled or prevented.

         12  The risk factors include age, breast cancer is more

         13  common among women age 50 and over; race, it is more

         14  common among Caucasian women, although, sadly,

         15  mortality is higher among African American women;

         16  family history of breast cancer.  It is more common

         17  among those who have close blood relatives with

         18  breast cancer.  Early onset of menstruation, more

         19  common among women who had onset of menstruation

         20  before the age of 12 years old.  No children or late

         21  onset of pregnancy.  Breast cancer is more common

         22  among women who have no children or had the first

         23  pregnancy over the age of 30 and did not breast

         24  feed.  Women who breast fed for longer durations

         25  seems to have lesser risk for breast cancer.
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          2                 Thus, HHC continues to extensively

          3  promote the early detection and treatment of breast

          4  cancer through screening and aggressive management

          5  of diagnosed breast cancer as the primary tool for

          6  reducing the burden of disease.

          7                 We promote access to breast cancer

          8  screening.  HHC clinicians screen for breast cancer

          9  through providing clinical breast examination and

         10  mammograms for women aged 40 years and older

         11  regardless of their ability to pay.  Last year,

         12  HHC's hospitals and diagnostic and treatment centers

         13  provided more than 80,000 mammograms, an increase of

         14  over 12 percent over the previous year. As a result,

         15  we are diagnosing significantly more cancers at an

         16  earlier stage, and we found 9 percent more early-

         17  stage cancer than the previous year, when treatment

         18  is more effective and prognosis much more hopeful.

         19                 Selected HHC facilities use state-

         20  of- the- art digital mammography system that produce

         21  digital breast images through computerization rather

         22  than traditional x- ray films, substantially

         23  increasing image resolution and reducing delays in

         24  generating results.  I would like to thank members

         25  of the Council for providing funding for some of
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          2  these digital mammography systems.

          3                 HHC closely monitors the availability

          4  of mammogram services and utilization of such

          5  services in women who are most at risk of breast

          6  cancer.  We believe that we can only achieve optimum

          7  quality of care through rigorous self monitoring and

          8  by resolving issues that may impede the proper

          9  delivery of health care services to the population

         10  we serve.

         11                 Of the 80,000 mammograms provided

         12  last year, many of these were for women who did not

         13  have health insurance or the ability to pay for such

         14  procedures.  Any woman who does not have a primary

         15  care provider or a medical home, can go to an HHC

         16  facility, register to become a patient and receive

         17  her annual mammography and any other services she

         18  needs.  Many of our facilities have extended hours

         19  on nights and weekends to accommodate those patients

         20  who are unable to access services in the morning or

         21  afternoon.

         22                 HHC is committed to ensuring that a

         23  woman's lack of insurance coverage does not pose a

         24  barrier to accessing mammograms and needed care.

         25  HHC staff help patients to obtain public health
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          2  insurance for which they are eligible.  We also

          3  offer services at little or no cost through the HHC

          4  Options fee- scale program.

          5                 Some women who receive health care

          6  services from HHC may be eligible to enroll in New

          7  York State's Healthy Women's Partnership Program.

          8  This program is administered by the New York State

          9  Department of Health in partnership with community-

         10  based organizations across the state.  The program

         11  provides breast and cervical cancer screenings at no

         12  cost to the woman.  The priority population for

         13  screening through the Healthy Women's Partnership

         14  Program are women ages 40 and older whose incomes

         15  are at or below 250 percent of the federal poverty

         16  level and who have no health insurance or whose

         17  health insurance does not cover screening or

         18  diagnostic services.

         19                 We also provide public education,

         20  conduct outreach and enhance patient literacy.  As

         21  my colleagues from the New York City Department of

         22  Health and Mental Hygiene have reported, a recent

         23  survey they conducted showed a decline in the number

         24  of women aged 40 years and older who have had a

         25  mammogram in the last two years from 77 percent in
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          2  2002 to 73 percent in 2005, which decline represents

          3  nearly 105,000 women in this age group who have not

          4  had a mammogram in the last two years.

          5                 While we are not aware of the exact

          6  reasons for such a decline, we expect that some

          7  women may not be aware of the importance of, and the

          8  need to have a mammogram.  HHC conducts extensive

          9  public awareness and outreach efforts concerning

         10  breast cancer screenings throughout the year, but

         11  especially during the months of May when we sponsor

         12  our Mother's Day mammogram and October with our Take

         13  Care New York Campaigns.

         14                 The Mother's Day Mammogram Campaign

         15  is designed primarily to reach underserved women.

         16  The campaign stresses the importance of having a

         17  mammogram, an important and potentially life saving

         18  procedure.  This multimedia effort has featured both

         19  radio and newspaper advertisements with wide

         20  circulations in minority and new immigrant

         21  communities.  Brochures are provided in multiple

         22  languages to community- based organizations, many of

         23  whom serve non English speaking communities.  We

         24  also link them to a primary care provider if they

         25  need one.  Our partnership with community- based
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          2  organizations occur throughout the five boroughs.

          3                 Because we do not provide adult

          4  primary care services on Staten Island, we have in

          5  the past made resources available to Staten Island

          6  based providers.  We are pleased to report that

          7  beginning late summer, early fall, we will engage in

          8  a partnership with the Women's Outreach Network in

          9  which we will provide $300,000 in start- up costs to

         10  support a second mammography van that will ensure

         11  increased access to breast cancer screening for

         12  Staten Island women.

         13                 In addition to conducting public

         14  awareness campaigns, we recognize the importance of

         15  patient- provider relationship and encourage our

         16  providers to promote breast cancer screening to

         17  their patients.   The provider's advice to the

         18  patient on the need for a mammogram is invaluable.

         19  We also recognize how important it is for our

         20  providers to keep up- to- date on evidence based

         21  practices, so that they can provide the highest

         22  quality of care and advice to their patients.  We

         23  conduct periodic educational programs for our

         24  providers on breast cancer screening, and the

         25  effective management of breast cancer.
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          2                 HHC fully intends to continue our

          3  efforts to screen for breast cancer and to expand

          4  upon these activities this year. This concludes my

          5  written testimony.  I now look forward to answering

          6  any questions that you may have.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I want to thank

          8  both of you for your testimony because it certainly

          9  highlights and also strengthens our cause for

         10  concern about the drop in the numbers.  Your

         11  efforts, HHC, is tremendous.  I think they have

         12  always been in the forefront of reaching out for

         13  health care, and I thank you for that.

         14                 One of the questions, and I know

         15  we'll probably have some more, so I'm just opening

         16  it up.  As I stated earlier that the age 40 for

         17  women is what has been suggested after that they get

         18  a mammogram, should, in light of the silent cancers

         19  that have been affecting young women in my district,

         20  very high, and I'm really quite surprised at that,

         21  where they had been absolutely fine and they get to

         22  a doctor not feeling well, and then six months later

         23  they're gone with breast cancer without any notice

         24  at all physically that they had a problem.  Is it

         25  advisable to lower that age from 40 to in the 30's?
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          2  And in your experience with HHC, does any form of

          3  insurance cover that if the age was dropped for

          4  that?

          5                 DR. MOJICA:  Well, before we go to

          6  insurance and coverage, let me just explain to you

          7  the rationale, to everybody, the rationale for doing

          8  screening at age 40.  We follow evidenced based

          9  practice, the age at which breast cancer, a

         10  mammography is started has been set at the U.S.

         11  Public Health Services, and is a standard for the

         12  nation.  They do this through review of literature

         13  and really trying to hone down on which group of

         14  individuals need to be screened for the maximum

         15  effect of the screening procedure itself.  To lower

         16  that to, or to make that available or make that a

         17  routine screening for women below the age of 40 is

         18  going to screen a lot of women for which no risk for

         19  breast cancer at that point could really lead much

         20  result in terms of the screening itself.  In other

         21  words, you will just be screening a lot of women for

         22  which the screening is not really going to be

         23  productive.              There a few problems

         24  regarding that.  One is, it's going to cost a lot

         25  just to do the procedure.  Two, it will yield a lot
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          2  of false positive results for which then additional

          3  procedures will have to be done for individuals who

          4  do not need them.

          5                 It's rare that women that develop

          6  breast cancer below the age of 40.  It's unusual for

          7  women to develop breast cancer at the age of 40, but

          8  it is not inconceivable that women would develop

          9  breast cancer before the age of 40.  We recommend,

         10  and this is the importance of having a primary care

         11  provider or medical home, that women who may have

         12  blood relatives, for example, who have had breast

         13  cancer, and for whom an increased risk of breast

         14  cancer exists, do consult with their provider

         15  periodically and have an annual assessment that they

         16  can then have their breasts examined, and a

         17  prescription for a mammogram can be given at that

         18  point, so that screening can be done, even before

         19  the age of 40.

         20                 Now you mentioned the importance of

         21  coverage or insurance coverage for that.  I'm not

         22  quite sure exactly where coverage begins, but I can

         23  find that out for you.  Now the Healthy Women's

         24  Partnership does not provide coverage for women

         25  below the age of 40.  The eligibility starts at the
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          2  age of 40, except for those women who are going to

          3  have cervical cancer screening at 18 or slighter

          4  younger than that if sexual activity started before

          5  that.  So the Healthy Women's Partnership has the

          6  ability to provide coverage for those younger than

          7  40, but I'll have to check on the coverage for

          8  mammography.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  We would

         10  appreciate that.

         11                 DR. MOJICA:  Sure.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Because there are

         13  some other factors that come into it, you know, and

         14  I'm not linking the HPB, but certainly they're

         15  getting them older in the schools, so I think that's

         16  something.  Is it recommended that women over 40

         17  have an exam annually?

         18                 DR. MOJICA:  It's recommended that

         19  women beyond the age of 40 have periodic clinical

         20  examinations.  It can be done annually.  The breast

         21  cancer screening, including mammography, can be done

         22  every other year if there is a negative clinical

         23  breast examination and mammogram prior to that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  You were

         25  concerned about the false reporting that might take
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          2  place.  What has caused that concern?  What is that

          3  based on?

          4                 DR. MOJICA:  Any screening has false

          5  positives and false negatives results.  Screening

          6  individuals with very low incidence of disease or

          7  low risk for the disease will yield a high false

          8  positive result.

          9                 Let me take a different example other

         10  than mammography.  Let's say, for example, that

         11  we're going to screen everybody for HIV, which we're

         12  planning to do now.  A false positive for HIV

         13  increases if you're screening the population for

         14  which no risk for HIV infection is present.  So when

         15  that happens, when a person has a false positive

         16  result, then additional procedures will have to be

         17  done to be able to say whether that result is truly

         18  positive or not.

         19                 In the case of breast cancer, in the

         20  case of screening mammography, a false position

         21  result, let's for example, a lump was found, or at

         22  least a suspicious lesion was found, the next thing

         23  that the provider will have to order is a diagnostic

         24  mammography or sometimes guided needle biopsy, which

         25  is at some discomfort to the patient and also at
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          2  some expense to the health care system.  That's what

          3  we're concerned about.

          4                 Now there are those individuals who

          5  will truly be positive for those screenings, but, as

          6  I mentioned before, that can be addressed by having

          7  the individuals who truly have increased risk for

          8  breast cancer discuss that with their medical

          9  provider and truly establish a medical home for

         10  which they can be followed up for those kinds of

         11  procedures.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Tell us about the

         13  technology just for a moment.  I know that we're in

         14  this era of advanced technology and the extreme cost

         15  for that.  For instance, in primary care development

         16  facilities, do they do this kind of screening for

         17  mammographies?

         18                 DR. MOJICA:  I will have to admit my

         19  ignorance on that.  I'm not quite sure what the

         20  facilities that has.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I'm not either.

         22  That's why I asked that, but I think we should check

         23  that out.

         24                 DR. MOJICA:  We can find out for you,

         25  and I'll be sure to get back to you at some point
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          2  after this hearing.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay.

          4                 DR. MOJICA:  I can only speak for the

          5  corporation at the moment.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Within the HHC,

          7  in speaking for the corporation, how long does one

          8  of the mammography machines, the technology, how

          9  often are they updated?  That's not a negative

         10  question, believe me.  I'm thinking in terms that

         11  I've seen equipment at HHC which is so updated and

         12  so advanced that it is really and truly it's not a

         13  painless effort, but it certainly is less painful

         14  than what is with the older technology.

         15                 DR. MOJICA:  We do have a process for

         16  reviewing the age of our equipment, and truly for

         17  individual equipment that needs to be replaced are

         18  new technologies present.  We try to get the best

         19  and the most recent in the field for that particular

         20  equipment.  We are now in the process of moving

         21  towards digital mammography, and some hospitals or

         22  some facilities are already using that, but not all,

         23  so we're moving towards that process at the moment.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  It's pretty

         25  expensive machinery, and I know that, but it means
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          2  that we have to look at exactly where that fits in

          3  with other facilities' budgets and how often they do

          4  that.  I thank you very much.  I'm going to turn it

          5  over to Chair Rivera, who might have a few

          6  questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

          8  much.  My first question is for Dr. Mojica.  You

          9  mentioned the two different campaigns that you have,

         10  the Mother's Day mammogram campaign, and you also

         11  mentioned the October campaign, the Take Care of New

         12  York Campaign.  Can you elaborate more about those

         13  campaigns, where they target, how many people come

         14  out for those individual days?

         15                 DR. MOJICA:  Thank you for the

         16  question.  The May mammogram, or May Mother's Day

         17  campaign is launched on Mother's Day, close to

         18  Mother's Day, and the reason why we do that is

         19  because we wish to remind women, particularly 40

         20  years and over that indeed breast cancer is still a

         21  problem, and mammography or breast cancer screening

         22  is truly the best way to identify this problem.

         23                 The Mother's Day Campaign, as we call

         24  it, is launched in May but continues for about six

         25  months or so.  We reach out to community- based
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          2  organizations whose constituents are non English

          3  speaking primarily, and we encourage these

          4  individuals to come to our facilities for a clinical

          5  breast examination and for mammography.

          6                 What we're concerned about is that

          7  some of these women who are new immigrants in the

          8  country, or those who have some limited English

          9  proficiency, are not quite familiar with some of the

         10  recommendations that we make regarding preventive

         11  health care services, and in this case breast cancer

         12  screening.  So our target population, if I may call

         13  them target population, are those who are

         14  traditionally not using the health care system,

         15  those who may have missed some of their appointments

         16  with their physicians or who may not really have a

         17  physician to begin with.

         18                 As you know, we don't recommend

         19  individuals to just come in and ask for mammography.

         20    We really do recommend that they come in for a

         21  total health care service and have a comprehensive

         22  health care assessment during the times that they

         23  visit.  We use mammogram as a hook to get these

         24  individuals into our facilities and provide a

         25  comprehensive health care service to them, including
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          2  the provision of a true medical home where all of

          3  their health care needs could be addressed.  And

          4  that's particularly challenging for some women who

          5  just come into this country and whose traditional

          6  beliefs may not be consistent with Western medicine,

          7  and that's what we're trying to do in the Mother's

          8  Day mammogram campaign.

          9                 The Take Care of New York is a more

         10  comprehensive campaign.  It includes everything

         11  including breast cancer, but it's for the general

         12  population.  It's not targeted to women.  We also

         13  try to promote during the time the importance of

         14  having health insurance so that their family is not

         15  burdened financially with any catastrophic illness

         16  that may happen or occur during the year.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  And just a

         18  follow up question on the digital mammography

         19  equipment that you have, is it a different picture

         20  that's taken?  Or is it a totally different

         21  experience, less painful?  How is that in terms from

         22  the old school?

         23                 DR. MOJICA:  The process for taking

         24  mammography is similar.  The breast will have to be

         25  pressed or compressed to really be able to take that
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          2  picture.  The digital mammography does not have a

          3  plate.  It doesn't have an x- ray plate or what do

          4  you call those things?  An x- ray picture.  It is in

          5  the computer, and it's easier for the radiologist to

          6  look at that and hone into any particular lesions

          7  that they may find.

          8                 One of the advantages of having that

          9  also is that it provides us with a good record of

         10  the patient's mammogram.  As you know, it's

         11  important for mammograms conducted sequentially to

         12  be compared with previous mammograms that have been

         13  done in the past, especially if there's some new

         14  findings in the most recent mammogram itself.  That

         15  helps the radiologist and the provider to decide on

         16  the next step and what needs to be done in the

         17  management of that particular individual.  That is

         18  also one of the reasons why we discourage women from

         19  shopping around and having their mammogram in many

         20  different places.  Because it is not infrequent for

         21  us to see a woman the first time and see something

         22  in the mammogram, and we do not have a comparison

         23  mammogram from the past because the mammogram had

         24  not been conducted in any of our facilities.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  And to Dr.
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          2  Silver, you mentioned the survey study that you put

          3  into implementation.  Is there a time line on how

          4  long that will take to get done?  And once it is

          5  completed, can you forward it to the City Council?

          6                 DR. SILVER:  Yes, of course we can

          7  forward it to City Council, and we hope to have the

          8  results by about February of 2008, is that correct?

          9  February of 2008 is our target deadline.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.  Now, Dr.

         11  Mojica, you mentioned that you want people to go to

         12  the same doctor as often as possible.  I know in my

         13  district we teamed up with St. Barnabas, and we

         14  actually have the mobile mammogram vans out there.

         15  How effective are the mobile vans as compared to

         16  going into the doctor's office?

         17                 DR. MOJICA:  Well, the mobile van is

         18  supposed to provide the same quality mammogram as

         19  the on site mammogram or the facility mammogram.

         20  The challenge is for those particular films, or

         21  whatever readings that they may have, be linked with

         22  the mother facility, or at least be available to

         23  those who are going to read future mammograms of the

         24  same individual, so there is a need to actually keep

         25  these records intact or at least readily accessible
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          2  to those who are going to be responsible for the

          3  care of the patient prospectively.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I know HHC has

          5  the pilot program with the Smart Cards, with the

          6  imprint on the medical history of an individual.  Is

          7  it possible to put the information from the

          8  mammogram on the patient identification cards so

          9  that way whether you go to any HHC hospital, and

         10  hopefully all private hospitals will take part in

         11  this system, that it will just be easily

         12  transferable in technology?  Or is that so far away

         13  in terms of getting everybody on the same technology

         14  that it's not feasible as of yet?

         15                 DR. MOJICA:  Well, first of all, I

         16  have to dispute your notion that we have a Smart

         17  Card.  We don't really use a Smart Card universally

         18  at the moment.  It's being tested, and it's probably

         19  not going to be easily or universally used very

         20  soon. Also, the Smart Card card will have very

         21  limited information.  It's not really going to carry

         22  all the vital information that a person may have

         23  regarding his or her health.  A mammogram image will

         24  require a lot of bytes, and I'm not quite sure that

         25  a Smart Card will be able to carry that image for
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          2  that particular patient.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Well, I know the

          4  early stages of the technology is in its infancy,

          5  but I also know that technology advances as the

          6  months go by, and it could probably just be upgraded

          7  at a later point in time, but obviously, we're not

          8  at that point yet.  Hopefully we will get to that

          9  point in the upcoming years.

         10                 DR. MOJICA:  Well, I hope so.  What

         11  we're trying to do right now is just to make

         12  mammography as state- of- the- art as possible in

         13  the corporation.  The Smart Card I am not quite sure

         14  where we are, and I'm not going to delude you by

         15  saying that we're going to do that shortly.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Well, thank you.

         17    I know Council Member Stewart then Council Member

         18  Dickens, and we've been joined by Council Member

         19  Arroyo.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

         21  Mr. Chair. Doctors, I feel we can do more.  I really

         22  do feel we can do more. For example, I think HHC can

         23  play a better role.  Let me tell you why.

         24                 We talk about risk factors, no

         25  children, menstruation at an early age 12 or so, and
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          2  we talk about if they have their first child over

          3  the age of 30, or also did not breast feed.  Why

          4  couldn't we create a category?  We all know that

          5  early detection leads to a better prognosis and

          6  successful treatment. What I'm staying basically is

          7  that those risk factors, we can list that in a

          8  question, put it in a question.  So if somebody is,

          9  let's say 34, you can tell them this is the factor,

         10  you should really go the test and not wait until

         11  after they're 40 or until they reach 50.  Why is it

         12  that we are not doing more?  If somebody's 25, and

         13  they have all these risk factors, why is it that

         14  they can't start this process of being tested?  I

         15  mean, I don't think it would cost that much.  It's

         16  not everybody that will have all those risk factors.

         17                 DR. SILVER:  There are several

         18  reasons.  I think money is not really the chief

         19  reason.  First of all, mammography involves

         20  radiation exposure, and the more years that you have

         21  it, you're getting successive radiation exposures of

         22  the breast of the woman.

         23                 Secondly, as Dr. Mojica was pointing

         24  out, mammography is not one of our precise screening

         25  tests.  We have screening tests that are really good
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          2  for some things, and then we have screening tests

          3  that are so- so.  Mammography is effective at early

          4  detection of breast cancer, but it really comes at a

          5  price, which is a significant number of false

          6  positives, and the false positives are very

          7  traumatic for a woman.  The woman who goes for a

          8  mammography and is told you may have breast cancer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  What you're

         10  saying basically is mammography is the only thing

         11  you can do if you go through those risk factors?

         12                 DR. SILVER:  Mammography is our only

         13  screening test, and it has always had a --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  The only

         15  screening test?

         16                 DR. SILVER:  Well, the other

         17  screening test is self examination or a clinical

         18  examination, which are less sensitive, and it has

         19  always come at this price of a significant false

         20  positive rate.  The more you bring mammography down

         21  into women at lower risk, such as younger and

         22  younger women, the ratio, as Dr. Mojica was pointing

         23  out, of these false positive tests, and the very

         24  traumatic experience for women who are told that

         25  they may have breast cancer and have to undergo a
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          2  biopsy, for example, increases disproportionately,

          3  and at some point you say 200 biopsies is not worth

          4  one and where that point is, is, of course, a

          5  difficult decision.  That data has been analyzed

          6  really very carefully by the United States

          7  Preventive Services Taskforce, and they felt that 40

          8  was an optimal cut off point.

          9                 Also, because those risk factors that

         10  you're mentioning, such as not having had few

         11  children, are not really finished until you're past

         12  40.  Women may still be having children into their

         13  late 40's, so those risk factors were established

         14  usually by looking at women who had developed breast

         15  cancer in their 50's or 60's looking back over their

         16  reproductive history, which goes until they're

         17  menopausal in their late 40's or early 50's, and if

         18  you're 30, you haven't finished that history, so

         19  it's not exactly the same situation.

         20                 But there are specific groups of

         21  young women who are at high risk because of family

         22  history, and so forth, and for whom screening is

         23  justified and should be carried out, and it's

         24  important for women who have multiple relatives with

         25  breast cancer, for example, to be aware of that.
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          2                 But I think really when we look at

          3  this whole issue, the big problem is the many women

          4  who are already in the groups that should be getting

          5  screened that aren't, so we have about a quarter of

          6  women who are in the over 40 age group who aren't

          7  getting screened, and that's really the bulk of the

          8  potential prevention that we're missing.  Figuring

          9  out what those barriers are and getting much better

         10  at capturing those 25 percent of women is probably

         11  where we would get the most bang for our buck in

         12  terms of really detecting cancers that can be

         13  prevented early and minimizing unnecessary trauma or

         14  scares to people.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  What

         16  percentage of the population will meet these risk

         17  factors?  What you're saying basically is that for

         18  the tests that one has to go through it might be, if

         19  you go through a 100 and you only catch like three,

         20  you figure that's not cost effective, or whatever.

         21  Or it's not worth the trauma that one goes through.

         22  What I'm looking at basically is this, what

         23  percentage of let's say a population of folks that

         24  are 33, will go through these risk factors, that

         25  have these risk factors that you have to do these
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          2  screenings on?  It's not everybody you're going to

          3  be doing it on.  I'm saying there might be about, I

          4  don't think it's more than about 20 or so percent of

          5  the folks that is at that age with those risk

          6  factors.  It's not everybody you're going to be

          7  doing.

          8                 DR. SILVER:  The only risk factors at

          9  that age that the scientific data would support

         10  screening women for, and correct me if I'm wrong,

         11  Dr. Mojica, would be certain cases of women that

         12  have high family risk of breast cancer.  These other

         13  risk factors, while some of them may be prevalent,

         14  are not sufficient to justify earlier age

         15  screenings.  On the contrary though, once you hit

         16  40, we don't use risk factors at all.  We screen

         17  everybody.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Right, yes,

         19  at 40, but a lot of folks haven't reached 40 and

         20  they're dead.

         21                 DR. MOJICA:  If I may, you're

         22  bringing up a very important issue, which is

         23  screening individuals who may not be in the age

         24  group for which routine screening is recommended.

         25  There is no reason why individuals below the age of
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          2  40 cannot be screened for breast cancer, and indeed

          3  that is being done for those individuals below the

          4  age of 40 if the provider decides that that is truly

          5  important and will benefit the patient, which brings

          6  me to my original point, that it is necessary for

          7  women and anybody to have a medical home and a

          8  trusted provider who is going to screen them or

          9  provide them with the necessary advice for their

         10  health.             If a women who let's say is just

         11  about 30 or 35 proceeds to give some risk factors to

         12  their provider, let's say, for example, the woman is

         13  overweight, the woman smokes, the woman has had an

         14  early menstruation, had menarche at the age of 9,

         15  did not have any child, therefore did not also

         16  breast feed, and had close blood relatives that

         17  developed breast cancer, that woman certainly would

         18  benefit from a closer monitoring for breast cancer

         19  and indeed a clinical breast examination and a

         20  mammogram may be indicated.  So it's not unusual for

         21  those things to happen. However, it is not prudent

         22  to recommend that everybody in that age group be

         23  also routinely screened for breast cancer through a

         24  mammogram because there will be a lot of women for

         25  which a mammography will be done, and it will be
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          2  false positive results or for which no beneficial

          3  health benefit would accrue that particular

          4  individual.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Doctor, you

          6  know for a fact that most of the folks who may come

          7  to HHC facilities they don't have a primary

          8  physician to at least carry out what you're saying,

          9  or even to monitor that?  You understand when they

         10  come to HHC, a lot of times they might be coming at

         11  one time, or they use HHC in a way as their primary

         12  doctor, but HHC doesn't hold them as their primary

         13  doctor.  What I'm saying basically is that we can

         14  set up some sort of a system to look at the risk

         15  factors closer to fall instead of saying that we

         16  will then refer them back to their primary doctor or

         17  to the person who will follow up with them

         18  thereafter.  I don't see that happening.  That's the

         19  reason why I'm saying that we can do better at the

         20  HHC facilities.

         21                 DR. MOJICA:  Well, I'm sorry to hear

         22  that.  One of the things that we truly promote in

         23  the corporation is for the woman or anybody to stay

         24  with us and use us as a primary care provider.  One

         25  of the things that we truly promote is for us to be
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          2  the preferred provider or the medical home of

          3  anybody.  So anybody who comes to us, will be

          4  assigned a primary care provider, or at least a

          5  clinic for which they will be able to access

          6  periodically, so that their health care needs will

          7  be addressed.

          8                 Now there is nothing that we can do

          9  if these individuals don't come back us.  We can

         10  only try reminders.  We can coax them to come to us,

         11  but we do facilitate access to us by anybody, and we

         12  truly are sorry if that is the case, that they use

         13  us primarily for episodic care because that is not

         14  what we encourage our patients to do.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I'm just going to

         17  ask one more question in light of Dr. Silver's

         18  testimony.  What is the time frame when someone

         19  signs up for a mammography as to when they have it?

         20                 DR. SILVER:  You're asking about

         21  waiting times. This is one of our areas of concern.

         22  Is waiting time a major determinant?  It's part of

         23  the research project that we're doing right now.

         24  We're calling all of the mammography facilities to

         25  find out about wait time.  I can only tell you that
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          2  we've called 67 so far and that the wait times were

          3  2.7 weeks, slightly longer in Brooklyn, but even

          4  then it was up to four weeks.  These are not final.

          5  These are all preliminary numbers.  We had heard

          6  reports of people calling and saying six months and

          7  outrageously long times, which is why we're in the

          8  process of doing this study.  This was an anonymous

          9  caller approach.  There was really a small number of

         10  places that had slightly longer waiting times.  The

         11  longest time we found so far was 14 weeks, so these

         12  are just preliminary results, but they're

         13  encouraging findings, and we'll complete that study

         14  and see what it shows us.  We may find some other

         15  sites with longer waiting lists.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  So will the study

         17  determine if it's lack of staff or not enough

         18  equipment because not every room has the

         19  mammographies?  I understand that.

         20                 DR. SILVER:  Well, if we find very

         21  short waiting times, it would suggest to me that

         22  there probably isn't a staff deficiency or a

         23  capacity deficiency because otherwise you would

         24  expect to see longer waiting times.

         25                 We're looking at a number of

                                                            49

          1  HEALTH AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  different factors. We'll be mapping out the

          3  distribution of the units, for example, in terms of

          4  geography to see whether there are geographic issues

          5  of capacity, or particular communities that may have

          6  less access to these procedures.  Those will be

          7  parts of the study we're undergoing, but we were

          8  actually pleasantly surprised by these preliminary

          9  results.  Really this is an example of a problem

         10  that really does require research.  The easy

         11  hypotheses that we had have not so far been

         12  confirmed, and we really do need to look at it in

         13  more depth and try and understand what's going on.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Will the study

         15  include hours, for instance?  Can women come in the

         16  evening for where you do that? Are there evening

         17  hours for having a mammography once they sign up? It

         18  may be difficult for them for working.

         19                 DR. SILVER:  We didn't include that

         20  in this particular calling one, but we will be doing

         21  focus groups with radiologists and other providers,

         22  and we may be looking at those issues as well.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Because that

         24  could be helpful, and whether there's going to be

         25  adjustment times or not.  I thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Council Member

          3  Dickens and Council Member Mealy.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you so

          5  much, Chairs, and thank you for your testimony.

          6  What please, is the standard, and what is the actual

          7  wait time at an HHC facility in order to get a

          8  mammogram?

          9                 DR. MOJICA:  There are some

         10  facilities in the corporation right now for which a

         11  mammogram can be done on the same day that the

         12  physician orders the mammogram.  There are places in

         13  the corporation right now for which a woman coming

         14  in for a regular physical examination and check up

         15  and a provider ordering a mammogram and the

         16  mammogram can be done on the same day.  That is

         17  possible, and that can be done.

         18                 We also have extended hours in some

         19  of our facilities that extend to about 7 or 8 in the

         20  evening, and there are some facilities that offer

         21  mammogram on Saturdays.  There are some facilities

         22  that also offer mammogram for when the patient can

         23  actually come back for a mammogram, and that can be

         24  scheduled.  The issue is more frequently than that,

         25  the patient getting an appointment to see the
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          2  primary care provider who will then make the order

          3  for a mammogram to begin with.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  What is that

          5  wait time, please?

          6                 DR. MOJICA:  With our open access,

          7  that can be from one to two days to about a week.

          8  So it is not unusual for a patient to call in today,

          9  for example, and request for a clinic visit and will

         10  be scheduled for the following day, or at least

         11  within that same week.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  And what is

         13  the cost of a mammogram, please?

         14                 DR. MOJICA:  The cost of the

         15  mammogram to us is based on the patient's insurance,

         16  so if the patient is insured, that's usually covered

         17  by the insurance itself.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  No, excuse

         19  me, I'm sorry. No, I really meant what is the actual

         20  cost of a mammogram that would be based upon what

         21  reimbursement say from an insurance, one? Or if I

         22  don't have insurance, but I'm working, what would I

         23  have to pay for that mammogram?

         24                 DR. MOJICA:  The corporation is a

         25  sliding fee scale which we call HHC options for
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          2  those who are not currently insured, and we have

          3  rates all the way up to 400 percent of current

          4  poverty level, and that is still affordable.  That

          5  particular visit can cost from $60 to $80, and I'm

          6  not quite sure what the cost of the mammogram will

          7  be, but I'll get back to you regarding the cost of

          8  the mammogram itself for self- pay.

          9                 Now if the individual truly is not

         10  eligible for any private health insurance, or public

         11  health insurance, for that matter, and the person

         12  cannot afford that, then there is another way for

         13  that particular patient to get a mammogram free of

         14  charge, but not the visit itself through the Healthy

         15  Women's Partnership. If that person is truly

         16  eligible for the Healthy Women's Partnership, then

         17  the mammogram does not have a cost.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you.

         19  I also noticed that now you're saying that a

         20  mammogram is for women 40 and over is recommended

         21  every other year, is that correct?  Well, when I

         22  turned 40, my doctor recommended an annual

         23  mammogram.  What happened to that annual mammogram,

         24  and what are you basing your data upon in order to

         25  change that from annual to every two years?
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          2                 DR. MOJICA:  These are

          3  recommendations from the U.S. Public Preventive

          4  Taskforce, and that is based on studies that they

          5  have done that show that women that have no

          6  particular high risk factors and has had a negative

          7  mammogram in the past, can have a mammogram every

          8  other year.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Now also,

         10  what is it that DOHMH and HHC can do to partner with

         11  all three levels of government in order to protect

         12  all of us against what the insurance companies are

         13  doing such as raising their co- pays?  They notify

         14  you and say July 1 you're co- pay is now going to be

         15  $70 or whatever.  That's number one, which can

         16  severely impact on an appointment that a patient

         17  would have to get a mammogram.  That's number one.

         18                 Also, where it's determined that it

         19  may be necessary, I have known the insurance company

         20  to refuse to pay for a second and maybe a third

         21  opinion mammogram or the follow- up without you

         22  having to go to extreme measures to get permission

         23  from them.

         24            So I've got some serious concerns in how

         25  we can work together to try to protect all of us
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          2  because we're all impacted upon the decisions that

          3  the insurance companies make doing this, so is there

          4  anything that we can do to work together on all

          5  three levels of government?  Because, as we all

          6  know, the insurance companies have high powered

          7  lobbyists, and they determine to suddenly to raise

          8  the co- pay, that they're not going to pay for a

          9  second and third opinion so I'd like to know if

         10  there's anything, and maybe there is nothing that we

         11  can do to partner, but I'm just asking is there

         12  anything that you can think of?

         13                 DR. SILVER:  There are a few areas

         14  that we've been looking at.  As you're probably

         15  aware, insurance itself is regulated at the level of

         16  the state, not the city, and part of it is federal,

         17  people with certain public insurance and ERISA

         18  plans, But I think there are areas that headway can

         19  be made, particularly working with employers.

         20                 So one thing that some employers have

         21  done and some insurers often, at the behest of

         22  employers who are purchasing insurance, is to

         23  examine preventive procedures from co- pays and

         24  deductibles, so that the barrier in terms of out-

         25  of- pocket expenditures for the consumer is lower
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          2  when they're going for a preventive procedure.

          3  That's something that we would like to see increased

          4  as a practice in the insurance market, and mostly

          5  likely using employers as purchasers would have the

          6  greatest effect in terms of making that happen.

          7                 In other words, when a large company

          8  is negotiating its insurance package for its

          9  employees to say, well, we want our employees to be

         10  able to get the following preventive services

         11  without having out- of- pocket payments that might

         12  constitute barriers.  That may be one of the most

         13  likely avenues to reduce financial barriers.

         14                 We're also in discussion with a

         15  number of insurance companies in trying to look at

         16  other ways that insurance companies could play a

         17  more active role in promoting uptake of preventive

         18  procedures.  While all of them basically cover their

         19  procedures, what we see is that many people, even

         20  insured people, don't get them.  So what role could

         21  an insurer play in really making more active offer

         22  of these procedures.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you.

         24  I heard you and I agree with you in the private

         25  sector.  How would that work, and pardon my
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          2  selfishness, how would that work with say, City

          3  employees?

          4                 DR. SILVER:  Well, as you know, the

          5  Department of Health does not do the contracting in

          6  this area, but I think it's an avenue that could be

          7  discussed or explored potentially.

          8                 DR. MOJICA:  This is a very difficult

          9  and an ongoing issue for us.  We are in constant

         10  communication with the Office of the Governor to

         11  really straighten this thing out and see if there's

         12  anything that we could do to ease the burden of co-

         13  pay and excessive co- payments for insured

         14  individuals.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you,

         16  and what community- based organizations has HHC and

         17  DOHMH began to partner with in order to encourage

         18  one, greater use of mammography and two, to meet the

         19  Take Care of New York breast cancer screening goals?

         20                 DR. MOJICA:  I have a long list of

         21  community- based organizations.  Unfortunately, I

         22  have don't have it with me right now.  We work with

         23  the New York Immigrant Coalition and all the member

         24  community- based organizations in them.

         25                 Let me just tell you by communities
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          2  the communities that we try to reach.  One is, we

          3  feel it is important to reach the solidation

          4  communities, for example, those who are from India,

          5  Pakistan, Bangladesh, where there is a lot of women

          6  who do not necessarily access health care services

          7  regularly and routinely. We also try to access

          8  individuals who came in from the old Soviet Union or

          9  Republics and try to reach out to them because they

         10  also do not routinely and regularly access health

         11  care services.

         12                 We also try to access or to reach

         13  women particularly in the Muslim faith or in the

         14  Muslim community because they find it difficult to

         15  get to our facilities without really having the

         16  support and the implicit approval of other male

         17  family members, so those are the kinds of

         18  communities that we're reaching.  If you want the

         19  names of the community- based organizations, I have

         20  them. I have a list of about 100 that we can make

         21  available to you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you so

         23  much.  I wouldn't need the whole list of 500, but

         24  maybe for the boroughs of Manhattan and Bronx?

         25                 DR. MOJICA:  Certainly.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you so

          3  much, and thank you for your testimony.  And thank

          4  you for all the hard work that both of you do.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

          6  much, Council Member.  Next we have Council Member

          7  Mealy.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Yes, I want to

          9  thank both Chairs and thank you.  That list?  I

         10  would love the list of Brooklyn.  What sort of

         11  outreach do you do in the urban communities like

         12  Brooklyn or Queens?

         13                 DR. MOJICA:  The type of outreach

         14  that we do now is primarily true community- based

         15  organizations.  You work with a community- based

         16  organization.  We provide them with materials that

         17  we think are easily readable and understandable.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Is it in

         19  different languages?

         20                 DR. MOJICA:  Is it in different

         21  languages, and we use the language of the

         22  constituents of this community- based organization,

         23  so we have materials in Urdu, in Bangladeshi, in

         24  some Russian.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  How do you
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          2  advertise the free mammogram?

          3                 DR. MOJICA:  We also do a multi-

          4  media campaign in the month of May to advertise this

          5  in local newspapers and local radio and televisions.

          6    We don't use ABC and CBS and CNN or the New York

          7  Times to advertise the services that we have.  We

          8  choose local newspapers, and some of them are in

          9  Korean, for example, if you want to reach that

         10  community, or Urdu, or Pashto.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  So maybe I

         12  missed earlier, maybe you went through that already.

         13                 DR. MOJICA:  I'm sorry, I did not

         14  explain that.  You didn't miss anything.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Okay, that's

         16  good.  Is it a problem maybe we have the

         17  radiologists, we need more radiologists? Because you

         18  say that the wait time is like seven weeks.  I would

         19  have to beg to differ.  People have gone to HHC's

         20  and getting an appointment for a mammogram like

         21  three to four months later or longer.  And then some

         22  of the people forget and then they go without doing

         23  mammograms for years, so it has to be a way where

         24  you could follow up.  I heard you say that you do

         25  remind people, but it shouldn't be that far in

                                                            60

          1  HEALTH AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  between.  If someone goes for a primary care, and my

          3  colleague he did say that a lot of people are using

          4  you as the primary care, and I'm glad you said it is

          5  the same.  But once they do that, they have to come

          6  back at least within two weeks if we're really going

          7  to be sincere about making sure we get these tests

          8  done because seven weeks is a long time, and then

          9  further than that is even too long.

         10                 DR. MOJICA:  We constantly try to

         11  improve and reduce the waiting time for our

         12  patients, and as I have mentioned before, we are

         13  trying to, as much as possible, make it as short as

         14  possible.  To date, we have facilities where, as I

         15  mentioned before, a mammogram can be done on the

         16  same day that it's ordered by the provider.  Now,

         17  admittedly, that's not universal practice, but for

         18  those who are still scheduling at seven weeks, I'd

         19  like to know where they are.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Well, I'm one

         21  of them.  I hate to say it.  I was thinking I was

         22  almost.  I did it in March, and my appointment now

         23  is in September.

         24                 DR. MOJICA:  Where is this facility?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  On Horton
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          2  Street, but it's not an HHC, so that's another

          3  thing.

          4                 DR. MOJICA:  I'm sorry about that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  And that you're

          6  sorry and glad at the same time.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY:  Exactly.  But

          8  that's a sad state, so I will talk to them in

          9  regards to that.  But you're doing a great job, but

         10  I really feel that seven weeks' time needs to cut

         11  down if we really going to be sincere about getting

         12  these mammograms because a lot of people in my

         13  district, they go without and that's not good if

         14  it's so far in between, so thank you.  Thank you,

         15  Chairs.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         17  much.  Seeing no other questions, thank you very

         18  much for joining us here today.

         19                 DR. MOJICA:  Thank you very much.

         20                 DR. SILVER:  Thank you very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Now what we're

         22  going to do is we're going to have two panels.  The

         23  first panel we're going to call up is going to be

         24  from the American Cancer Society.  We have Dr. Clare

         25  Bradley here with us today.  Then we have from
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          2  SHARE, Self Help for Women is going to be Judith A.

          3  Manelis will be here, and Diana Godfrey from

          4  Memorial Sloan Kettering Breast Exam Center of

          5  Harlem.  Thank you very much, ladies.  If you have

          6  testimonies, provide it to the Sergeant- of- Arms.

          7  They'll present it to us, and you may begin in any

          8  order that you so choose.

          9                 DR. MANELIS:  Hello, my name is

         10  Judith Manelis, and I am Program Director of SHARE,

         11  Self- Help for Women with Breast or Ovarian Cancer,

         12  and I am a 16- year breast cancer survivor.

         13                 SHARE applauds the collaboration

         14  between the City and Macy's to increase public

         15  awareness about breast cancer screening through the

         16  combined efforts of government and the corporate

         17  sector.  We appreciate the opportunity to testify

         18  today in order to bring SHARE's perspective to the

         19  development of this campaign.

         20                 SHARE is a 31- year- old not- for-

         21  profit organization that provides peer support,

         22  information and resources to women and men affected

         23  by breast or ovarian cancer.  Our goal is to empower

         24  those affected to make informed decisions about

         25  diagnostic procedures, treatment and post- treatment
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          2  issues.  We also provide women with access to the

          3  more current scientific information about breast

          4  cancer through our educational programs, support

          5  groups and hotlines.

          6                 When speaking with women who

          7  participate in our programs and receive our

          8  services, we find that while some women have been

          9  diagnosed through a screening mammogram, others were

         10  diagnosed by examination, and the screening

         11  mammograms detected nothing.  That was my situation.

         12    My mammogram showed nothing for many years, and

         13  yet I was diagnosed with breast cancer.  It's

         14  important therefore to call attention to some issues

         15  regarding screening mammograms that need to be

         16  considered as the Council and Macy's create a public

         17  awareness campaign.  I have to say that our point of

         18  view is a little bit different.

         19                 SHARE believes that women must be

         20  aware of the results of evidenced- based scientific

         21  studies before making any decision regarding

         22  screening diagnostic procedures, treatment and post-

         23  treatment issues.  Informed decision making for

         24  patients and best practices by health providers must

         25  be grounded on evidence based medicine.  With these
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          2  thoughts in mind, we would like to make the

          3  following comments.

          4                 First, it is important to understand

          5  that screening mammography is different than

          6  diagnostic mammography.  Diagnostic mammography is

          7  taken when women present with symptoms.  Screening

          8  mammographies are taken to detect breast cancer

          9  before symptoms appear.  The goal of screening has

         10  always been to decrease mortality.  However, it is

         11  imperative to state here that breast cancer

         12  screening is not achieved with just a mammogram.  It

         13  must include a clinical breast cancer exam by a

         14  health provider who is proficient in this procedure,

         15  so when we speak about screening, we must always

         16  include clinical breast examination.

         17                 It is also important to know that

         18  screening mammograms, even with a clinical

         19  examination, do not prevent breast cancer.  In the

         20  last several years, studies on screening mammography

         21  have raised questions about their effectiveness in

         22  reducing mortality in general and for young women in

         23  particular.

         24                 Now there has been a discussion today

         25  about young women.  Mammograms for young women who
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          2  frequently have dense breasts are not as effective,

          3  so that's another reason why we don't want to go and

          4  have all the young women in their 20's and 30's

          5  having mammograms when they're going to be exposed

          6  to radiation and false positives.

          7                 Studies have also raised questions

          8  about the risks of mammography, including the false

          9  positives that lead to unnecessary biopsies versus

         10  the benefits to be obtained.  Here again, I'd like

         11  to stick myself in this equation.  My breast cancer

         12  is from radiation that was given to me when I was

         13  young, so I'm particularly sensitive to that issue.

         14                 One way to address these

         15  controversies in a public awareness campaign, as we

         16  continue to explore the science, is to send the

         17  message that women and their health providers need

         18  to have another conversation about the advantages

         19  and disadvantages of their having a screening

         20  mammogram, so women can make a more informed

         21  decision about what to do.

         22                 The public needs to know that these

         23  issues exist, and they have not been resolved.  Our

         24  health providers need to be informed in order to

         25  develop best practices that reflect the current
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          2  state of scientific evidence.  While this is more

          3  labor intensive than simply telling women across the

          4  board to have a screening mammogram or conveying the

          5  simple but inaccurate message that mammograms save

          6  lives, it may more literally be creating true public

          7  awareness about screening mammography.  I want to

          8  emphasize the fact that I'm not against screening.

          9  I think women need to be educated about all of these

         10  issues because it's not black and white, and it's

         11  not simple.

         12                 What are the problems to this

         13  approach?  Women need to have a health provider,

         14  which may not necessarily be a physician.  Health

         15  providers need to be knowledgeable about this

         16  science and able to spend time with the woman to

         17  discuss her risks and benefits.  We would need to

         18  change the sound bytes in any public awareness

         19  campaign to a message that was a bit grayer rather

         20  than black and white, but one that would be more

         21  respectful of the public.  We may need to keep the

         22  public more informed about changing science and have

         23  them more comfortable with the fact that it does

         24  change and practices change with it.

         25                 Ultimately, we need to develop better
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          2  tools to detect breast cancer at its earliest stages

          3  and reduce mortality from this disease.  Mammography

          4  is the best thing we have right now.  It's not 100

          5  percent and in some ways, most of all, is that when

          6  women are diagnosed with breast cancer, we need to

          7  make certain that treatment is available to them.

          8  Screening without access to treatment is very

          9  irresponsible, and we must make certain that we act

         10  responsibly because our lives and every woman here

         11  is at stake here.  Thank you.

         12                 DR. BRADLEY:  Good afternoon,

         13  Chairman Sears, Chairman Rivera and Members of the

         14  Women's Issues and Health Committee.  Thank you for

         15  the opportunity to testify.  I am Dr. Clare Bradley.

         16    I am the Chief Medical Officer for IPRO.  IPRO is

         17  a quality improvement organization.  Our mission is

         18  to assess and improve the quality of health services

         19  in New York and in other states throughout the

         20  United States.

         21                 Today my remarks are on behalf of the

         22  American Cancer Society's Mammography Strike Force,

         23  where I serve as the Chairperson.  The American

         24  Cancer Society formed the Mammography Strike Force

         25  to investigate the decline in mammography rates we
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          2  have seen over the last several years and to

          3  identify opportunities to reverse the downward

          4  trend.

          5                 I want to apologize.  Some of my

          6  comments are actually repetitive of both you, two

          7  Chairmen, as well as Dr. Mojica and Dr. Silver, but

          8  this is such an important issue that I think it's

          9  worth repeating some very important facts.

         10                 We are very pleased at the American

         11  Cancer Society that you are holding this important

         12  Hearing, and we are committed to working together on

         13  possible interventions to combat this potentially

         14  devastating trend.  As you know, the American Cancer

         15  Society is the nationwide community- based voluntary

         16  health organization dedicated to eliminating cancer

         17  as a major health problem by preventing cancer,

         18  saving lives and diminishing the suffering from

         19  cancer through research, education, advocacy and

         20  service.

         21                 The Cancer Society recommends that

         22  women age 40 and older have a screening mammography

         23  every year and should continue to do so for as long

         24  as they are in good health.  Mammograms save lives.

         25  They are still the gold standard for early detection
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          2  of breast cancer.  In fact, widespread use of

          3  mammograms has led to a reduction in deaths from

          4  breast cancer.  In the United States, since 1991,

          5  breast cancer mortality has declined by 22 percent,

          6  and if you investigate the role of screening and

          7  treatment, it's about 50/50, so 50 percent of the

          8  decline in mortality is from early detection, and 50

          9  percent is from improvements in treatment, so both

         10  are critical to combating breast cancer.

         11                 Unfortunately, we have been observing

         12  a steady downward trend in mammography rates in New

         13  York State since 2000. According to Behavioral Risk

         14  Factor Surveillance System data, and that's similar

         15  to the data that the City Health Department

         16  commented on, the percent of women over 40 reporting

         17  having a mammogram fell from 67.7 percent in 2000 to

         18  58.5 percent in 2004.              During this

         19  period of time the American Cancer Society had a

         20  goal of 75 percent, so not only weren't we working

         21  in moving towards that goal, we were actually moving

         22  away from that goal.  This decline was comparable

         23  among women with and without health insurance though

         24  uninsured women are far less likely, as you know, to

         25  get annual mammograms.
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          2                 This issue is not unique to New York

          3  City or New York State.  This trend is evident

          4  nationwide.  A recent study by Dr. Nancy Breen from

          5  the National Cancer Institute confirms that

          6  screening mammography rates to detect breast cancer

          7  fell by as much as four percent nationwide between

          8  2000 and 2005.  Alarmingly, Dr. Breen found that

          9  some of the sharpest declines were seen among women

         10  who previously reported high screening rates, women

         11  between 50 and 64.  So it's not just women who are

         12  reaching 40 who are not having mammographies.  It's

         13  women who had in the past regularly gotten

         14  mammographies who are for some reason not continuing

         15  to get them regularly.  We also saw declining rates

         16  among women in higher socioeconomic levels.

         17                 Breen and colleagues note that there

         18  are a number of possible explanations for this

         19  decline in mammography screening rates, but that

         20  there are insufficient data to confidently identify

         21  any one or multiple causes for the recent drop in

         22  rates.

         23                 One possible cause is a decline in

         24  the availability of mammography nationwide.  This

         25  study reports that other possible explanations for
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          2  the decline in screening rates include loss of

          3  health insurance or an increase in deductibles and

          4  co- pays, as has been discussed already, doubts

          5  about the value of mammography caused by media

          6  coverage of academic debates over efficacy and

          7  effectiveness, and perhaps a general decline in the

          8  presence of health promotion messages reminding

          9  women about the importance of regular screenings.

         10                 If a decline continues, it is

         11  reasonable to anticipate that it will be followed by

         12  an increase in breast cancer mortality, so the huge

         13  benefit we've seen in decreasing mortality will only

         14  be reversed if women do not receive regular

         15  screenings because their tumors, when they are

         16  diagnosed, will be diagnosed at later stages when we

         17  know survival is decreased.

         18                 There is some encouraging news, as we

         19  heard in the City, but also within New York State.

         20  According to very recent data from the same

         21  Behavioral Risk Factor data that I commented on

         22  previously, we have seen rates go up to 64.7 percent

         23  for 2006, but to be clear, this is just one point in

         24  time, and we really need to see future rounds of

         25  this survey data to make sure that we continue to go
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          2  in the right direction and that is increasing rates,

          3  and we need to look at other sources of data, data

          4  for managed care enrollees, women who are in managed

          5  care, or women who receive Medicaid or Medicare, so

          6  we really need to look at the entire picture to

          7  assess how we're doing.

          8                 But I'd like to point out that even

          9  this data, which is improved, shows that a third of

         10  women still are not getting mammography, and the

         11  rate for uninsured women is about half, so it's more

         12  disturbing for that group of women.  So I don't

         13  think we need any more data.  We need to act now,

         14  and I have to commend the City Health Department and

         15  HHC because they have acted and responded to this

         16  decrease in mammography.

         17                 The recommendations of the Strike

         18  Force, let me continue in that direction.  As was

         19  said, there are probably many reasons that play as

         20  to why mammography rates are decreasing, so there's

         21  no one answer to reverse this trend.  The American

         22  Cancer Society Strike Force have been investigating

         23  some of them, including mammography capacity,

         24  professional workforce capacity, access, referrals

         25  and public attitude, beliefs and behavior.  The
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          2  Strike Force has nearly finalized a list of

          3  recommendations soon to be publicly released, which

          4  available evidence suggests could increase

          5  mammography screening rates.  I will highlight and

          6  personalize those that are the most relevant for the

          7  City Council.

          8                 First, we should engage in

          9  collaborations to promote health care system

         10  practices and policies proven to be effective in

         11  reducing barriers to mammography.  Some of these

         12  access enhancing interventions include facilitated

         13  and flexible appointments in scheduling, evening

         14  appointments, as was mentioned, free mammograms and

         15  follow- up, transportation assistance, dependent

         16  care, supported navigating health care systems and

         17  culturally, and linguistically appropriate patient

         18  services should be a part of the range of practices

         19  implemented.

         20                 We would be happy to collaborate with

         21  the City Council, the City Health Department, HHC on

         22  improvement collaboratives.  We would be happy to

         23  provide tools to work on these collaboratives.  We

         24  are available and willing to work with you.  It is

         25  possible that physicians who play a key role in
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          2  referring women to mammography have been influenced

          3  by coverage of debates about the value of

          4  mammography.  We would work together, we could work

          5  together to educate primary care and OB- GYN

          6  providers in the City about the guidelines, about

          7  the decrease in screening rates, and that this may

          8  lead to increased mortality if we don't do something

          9  about these rates.

         10                 We know that one of the most

         11  important factors in getting women to have a

         12  mammography is to have their provider recommend a

         13  mammography, so providers are key in reversing this

         14  trend.

         15                 As was already discussed, as an

         16  employer, the City Council has a role in ensuring

         17  that the employees get their mammography.  The City,

         18  in collaboration with other prominent breast cancer

         19  organizations and other public and private partners,

         20  could develop an advertising campaign to promote

         21  annual mammograms for women age 40 and over, and

         22  under Speaker Quinn's leadership the Council has

         23  already embarked on the Take Care Women Campaign and

         24  is currently, as you know, partnering with Macy's.

         25                 Another concern is workforce
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          2  capacity.  The number of new physicians and

          3  radiology technicians who specialize in mammography

          4  is on the decline.  The strike force has come up

          5  with a proposal for a fellowship that could be

          6  implemented both in New York and New Jersey to

          7  increase the number of health care providers that

          8  choose this is as a profession.  We would be happy

          9  to share that with you if there's any interest in

         10  doing that in HHC.

         11                 Finally, on the legislative advocacy

         12  front, the City could join in advocating for

         13  increased federal and state funding for mammography

         14  screening programs for the uninsured in New York.

         15  You heard a lot about the Women's Health

         16  Partnerships and that they're very active in all of

         17  the boroughs.  Unfortunately, within New York State

         18  there is only funding for about a quarter of the

         19  uninsured women, so we need far more money to cover

         20  the uninsured women, both in the City and within the

         21  state.

         22                 In conclusion, I want to thank you

         23  for holding this hearing. And I want to reiterate

         24  that the Cancer Society is eager to work with you in

         25  any way that we can be of assistance to reverse this
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          2  trend in decreasing mammography rates.  Thank you

          3  very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you, Dr.

          5  Bradley.  We ask you to maybe just sort of summarize

          6  your testimony, leaving out important points.

          7  You're going to speak next?  Can you identify

          8  yourself, please for the record?

          9                 MS. GODFREY:  I'm Diana Godfrey, the

         10  Program Director for the Breast Examination Center

         11  of Harlem, which is a community program of Memorial

         12  Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, and we're also a

         13  partnership of the New York State Department of

         14  Health Cancer Services Program.

         15                 The Breast Examination Center of

         16  Harlem has been in existence since 1979, and we

         17  provide cancer screening examinations to women in

         18  the Harlem community and throughout New York City at

         19  no out- of- pocket cost to the woman.  Those women

         20  coming into the facility are provided with

         21  counseling and patient navigation services to ensure

         22  that prompt follow- up is conducted and carries

         23  through as recommended by our physicians.

         24                 As a member of the partnership, our

         25  focus is to provide cancer screening services and
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          2  follow- up to uninsured women in the community.

          3  There are 54 partnerships in New York State and

          4  partnerships in every borough of New York City.  In

          5  New York City alone there are about five

          6  partnerships.

          7                 I wanted to say too that of the

          8  decline in mammography screening throughout the

          9  country has been well documented.  As a grassroots

         10  organization and partnership in central Harlem, the

         11  BECH partnership has noted several reasons for this

         12  decline in our community.  One is that people are

         13  just not as fearful about breast cancer due to

         14  multiple treatment modalities that are currently

         15  available.  When you say to them, why haven't you

         16  had your mammogram, they will say to you, well, if I

         17  do get cancer, you can treat it.

         18                 Women are too busy and are often

         19  telling us that they forgot about their appointment,

         20  and when you reschedule the appointment, they forget

         21  again.

         22                 Many women are still afraid of having

         23  mammogram screening due to family experiences with

         24  cancer.

         25                 Some women complain about severe pain
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          2  and discomfort experienced during screening and

          3  refuse to return.

          4                 There are also a difficulty in

          5  negotiating coverage or identifying facilities that

          6  will take their insurance.

          7                 Another prime problem in our

          8  community is co morbidity prohibits women from

          9  keeping scheduled appointments.

         10                 We can do in terms of rescheduling

         11  our patients, making appointments, confirmation

         12  calls and sending up to three letters if that

         13  patient missed the appointment.

         14                 We would like to suggest that if

         15  extensive outreach and community education to

         16  increase awareness as part of mass media public

         17  service announcements, we certainly feel that this

         18  will capture most of the attention of the women in

         19  the community.

         20                 We feel also that the targeted

         21  populations should not just be that woman who is

         22  eligible for screening, but also for the employers,

         23  the family members and friends who can influence

         24  women who are eligible to have screening.

         25                 Also, public officials and community
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          2  leaders should continue to lead by example.  This

          3  has certainly been a very powerful message.  Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you very

          6  much.  Before we ask a question, we are joined by

          7  Councilwoman Mark- Viverito and Councilwoman Helen

          8  Foster from the Bronx.  Just one question before I

          9  call on Councilwoman Dickens.

         10                 There was something that was said

         11  about having the resources once someone is, does

         12  that mean that when women are diagnosed that to

         13  pursue the treatment or whatever course may be is

         14  not always available to them?  I mean, those that do

         15  mammography, do they not have resources that they're

         16  affiliated with, so that women can?

         17                 MS. GODFREY:  Well, let me say that

         18  we are a screening facility, and our purpose is not

         19  just to get the woman in for screening but to make

         20  sure that she's followed through treatment, so when

         21  the woman comes in for screening, this is where the

         22  patient navigators will take over to make sure that

         23  she follows through with the treatment as

         24  recommended.  So, yes, treatment is available.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  You do that,

                                                            80

          1  HEALTH AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  which is really remarkable.  Are there some other

          3  areas, and I don't mean, who does or who doesn't.

          4  If a woman has her standard mammography, and then

          5  she's got a report from the radiologist, we have a

          6  lot of chains, not a lot, but we certainly have

          7  where they go back.  Does that mean that that woman

          8  is then left on her own to find the resources to do

          9  that?  I think you can answer that.

         10                 DR. BRADLEY:  Actually, I just want

         11  to make a point. The Women's Health Partnerships,

         12  which have state funding and federal funding for

         13  uninsured women, that carries through to treatment,

         14  so for those women that can access screening through

         15  those programs, treatment is covered, but as I said

         16  before, the programs do not have enough capacity to

         17  cover all uninsured women.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  There was also a

         19  comment made about the premiums that doctors are

         20  paying and that the shrinkage in radiologists, and I

         21  know that's what's happening.  It's something that I

         22  think we need to take care of in Albany and look at

         23  that because there are a few other areas as well

         24  where there's shrinkage of medical doctors into

         25  facilities.  You wanted to add to that?
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          2                 MS. MANELIS:  Yes, I'd like to say

          3  that we have hotlines, breast cancer hotlines and

          4  ovarian hotlines that are staffed by survivors, so

          5  it's peer support.  We have found increasingly that

          6  the calls that we're getting large numbers are women

          7  who don't have funds and who are looking for

          8  financing and who are becoming bankrupt, or are

          9  being forced out of their apartments and all kinds

         10  of horrendous stories that they don't all have

         11  access to treatment.  We see it because it's coming

         12  on our phones, coming through on our hotlines.  So

         13  it's great to do screening and to find, but if after

         14  the after you tell a woman, well, you got it, but

         15  there's not much we can do for you, that's really

         16  not a great message.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  What happens when

         18  someone actually calls your hotline?

         19                 MS. MANELIS:  Well, first of all,

         20  when someone calls, they're going to speak to a

         21  survivor, and then if it seems that it would be

         22  appropriate and they want it, we will match them

         23  very specifically.  For example, if someone who is

         24  35, unmarried, worried about fertility issues, Stage

         25  III breast cancer, having specific kind of
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          2  treatment, we will match that caller with someone

          3  whose description is practically the exact or the

          4  exact as what she has described, so that she's

          5  speaking to someone who really understands exactly

          6  where she is, not just a survivor, but someone who

          7  is 36, worried about fertility, et cetera.

          8                 All of our hotline women are trained

          9  for several days before they can go on the hotline,

         10  and then are five trainings during the course of the

         11  year to keep them abreast of all of the latest

         12  science.  We don't recommend physicians.  We don't

         13  recommend treatments, but if someone were to call,

         14  for example, and ask about the treatment that's

         15  coming to mind happens to be about ovarian cancer,

         16  but if they should say, my doctor suggested

         17  intraperitoneal treatment for my ovarian cancer,

         18  what is it?  What can I expect? What are the side

         19  effects?  Our hotline women are trained to be able

         20  to answer that question.  If someone calls up and

         21  needs a wig, we can refer them to having a wig, so

         22  they really are trained in a variety of ways to be

         23  able to meet the needs of support, of resources and

         24  of information.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Are you on the
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          2  web?

          3                 MS. MANELIS:  Yes, we are.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  So is there a

          5  directory on the web where people have that as a

          6  resource?

          7                 MS. MANELIS:  Yes, there is.  We have

          8  several hotlines in breast and ovarian.  We also

          9  have a Spanish language program, Latina Share, where

         10  we provide the same services for Spanish speaking

         11  women as we do for English speaking women, and we

         12  have a capacity for ten additional languages, so if

         13  someone who's Russian or Chinese or whatever, calls

         14  the hotline and needs to speak to someone, we will

         15  access someone who speaks that woman's language, so

         16  that she can speak to someone and be heard, because

         17  that's the most important thing is to be heard.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I think we need

         19  more of what all three of you do.  With that, we

         20  have Councilwoman Dickens, who has a question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you so

         22  much, Chairs. It's two things.  Breast Examination

         23  Center of Harlem, I am familiar with you and you

         24  used to do a lot of community outreach. I used to

         25  see you at block association meetings.  I used to
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          2  see you on the street, in front of the Powell State

          3  Office Building, and I haven't seen you lately.  Are

          4  you still doing that type of outreach because it was

          5  phenomenal the work you did in the community.

          6                 MS. GODFREY:  Absolutely.  We're

          7  still doing it and more.  What we are trying to do

          8  is not just because it encompasses a great deal

          9  since we only have one health educator, but we try

         10  to get the volunteers to help out.  We have been so

         11  busy almost every Saturday and Sunday of this

         12  summer, so yes we are very busy.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right.

         14  I'm glad because I haven't seen you lately.

         15                 MS. GODFREY:  We're there.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  And you did

         17  phenomenal work.  I mean, you went everywhere.  You

         18  set up tables, and you made appointments, and you

         19  did follow- up because I tested it to see.  You did

         20  follow- up calls if someone didn't keep an

         21  appointment.

         22                 MS. GODFREY:  Thank you.  We still

         23  are.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  So I'm very

         25  proud of the work that you do.
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          2                 MS. GODFREY:  Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Also, SHARE,

          4  because I'm very familiar with the work that you do,

          5  and it's great.  You're a great organization.

          6                 MS. MANELIS:  Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Do you have

          8  the capability for French?  The reason I ask is

          9  because in my community there's a lot of West

         10  Africans.

         11                 MS. MANELIS:  We do have a capacity

         12  in French.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right.

         14  Well, I'm glad because I want to be able to refer

         15  them to you.

         16                 MS. MANELIS:  We try to reach out to

         17  women of all kinds.  The collaboration is extremely

         18  important, and I personally have always been upset

         19  when I come across people who are very turf oriented

         20  because, to me, the issue is there are lives here,

         21  women's lives.  And there's no room for turf when

         22  you're dealing with lives.  It's sisterhood, and you

         23  have to get yourselves together and do the job, so

         24  we're very big on collaboration.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  I agree, and
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          2  you do phenomenal work, by the way.

          3                 MS. MANELIS:  Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  And American

          5  Cancer Society, you, and I thank you for the mobile

          6  van that has been in Harlem and East Harlem.  I've

          7  been able to work with you and have gotten a mobile

          8  van that has come into the Harlem, East Harlem

          9  community in the last year, so I would like to

         10  continue to work with you in order to have that

         11  mobile van once again available, particularly during

         12  the summer months.  Is that possible?

         13                 DR. BRADLEY:  Great.  I believe it

         14  is.  I will relay your request to the staff.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Please, and

         16  I wish they would be in touch with me so that we can

         17  get that.  We got it last year through Congressman

         18  Rangel's office, and so I have no problems with

         19  turf.  So if you go through Congressman Rangel's

         20  office, it's fine.  I would just like it available

         21  to the Harlem, East Harlem communities once again,

         22  and thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you,

         24  Councilwoman, and thank you.  If there are no

         25  further questions, we'll move on to our next panel,
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          2  but I want to thank you because you're doing

          3  outstanding work and is evidenced at this hearing

          4  today that there is much that we need to do and can

          5  do here on the Council, so I thank you.

          6                 Our next panel is Joyce Browne.  Is

          7  Joyce Browne in the chamber?  And Eugene Forsyth, so

          8  I think we can have you come up together.  Is there

          9  anyone else who wishes to sign up and speak? All

         10  right, thank you.  We'll have Ms. Joyce Browne go

         11  first.  I'm sorry, I didn't hear you.  Oh, not at

         12  all, so Mr. Forsyth?  You're on.  Identify yourself

         13  for the record, please.

         14                 MR. FORSYTH:  My name is Eugene

         15  Forsyth.  I'm here under a different impression than

         16  what I'm getting now that I'm here.  I came with a

         17  different understanding what breast cancer screening

         18  meant.  To me, because of the death of my cousin at

         19  age 69 almost, early May of Stage IV breast cancer,

         20  which went to the liver, which is usually a bad

         21  place to go to, I also brought, and I think the

         22  Council already has copies of this article of two

         23  weeks ago in the New York Times.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Yes.

         25                 MR. FORSYTH:  On a different kind of
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          2  screening.  And that's what I'm really was focusing

          3  on.  I also would like to mention that I saw on the

          4  internet the abstract of a study which discussed the

          5  pros and cons of various kinds of technologies for

          6  screening.  They mentioned the digital mammograms.

          7  They mentioned other whole body scans, MRI's, and

          8  the whole slew of them.

          9                 But they pointed out, as was briefly

         10  pointed out by one of the people here before, that

         11  every one of these has the risk of radiation, and

         12  radiation can cause cancer, whether it's breast,

         13  prostate or whatever.  Now if you're going to have

         14  mammograms or other exposures to radiation starting

         15  at age 40 every two years or even every five years,

         16  you increase the risks because of increased

         17  radiation.  So you have to have a cost benefit

         18  analysis or whatever.  You have to weigh pros and

         19  cons in terms of costs and risks, and so on.

         20                 Now maybe ten years from now you can

         21  do DNA testing on a more routine basis, and a person

         22  will know at age 20 or 30 that he or she has a

         23  certain risk for a certain kind of disease,

         24  including breast cancer, and then maybe that woman,

         25  usually, will go and have the mammogram earlier or
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          2  more frequently, I don't know.

          3                 Now, I made some notes here in

          4  connection with my cousin's situation.  She came

          5  from Russia in '92 at age 66.  I do not know how

          6  much exposure she had to radiation for chest x-

          7  rays, for TB, or something else or ever had a mammo.

          8  I was only told a month ago that she delayed her

          9  mammo in early 65, which may have been her first, I

         10  don't know, for a whole year.  So there's a big

         11  downer right there starting off.  Then she didn't

         12  her surgery, and I don't know the extent of surgery,

         13  the details of that, until September, 2005.  Then

         14  she had chemo and radiation.  Now, the last six

         15  months of last year, 2006, were important, and

         16  that's why I'm bringing this up.  I'm not really

         17  looking at my notes now.

         18                 She was told every three months that

         19  her biomarkers, which means the blood tests or the

         20  urine tests or whatever the oncologist was using for

         21  the HER2 gene perhaps, or some other gene that was

         22  causing this problem apparently, were okay, were

         23  negative, I guess is the word you would use.  No

         24  other testing was done, no MRI's.

         25                 All of a sudden in late December, the
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          2  next three month test, the results are horrible.

          3  It's Stage IV liver cancer. The MRI was done.  The

          4  biopsy was done, and that was the determination.

          5  Still she had no symptoms.  She had no symptoms

          6  apparently until she had nausea and tiredness in

          7  mid- March, so she went downhill very fast from mid-

          8  March to the beginning of May.

          9                 So screening to me, and what this

         10  paper says is that, this paper in the New York

         11  Times, is basically saying is that there are too

         12  many false negatives.  She was an example of this.

         13  This is like a submarine diving deeply, avoiding

         14  sonar or torpedoes or whatever and surfacing six

         15  months later, et cetera, whatever time it is and

         16  wrecking havoc.

         17                 DR. BRADLEY:  Well, that was

         18  certainly one of the issues that was brought up.

         19                 MR. FORSYTH:  So my main thrust is

         20  that we need better testing procedures for the

         21  follow- ups, that is, after surgery, after

         22  treatment.  Sure, it's true, okay, she waited a

         23  whole year for the mammo.  That was bad.  She had

         24  the genetic problem.  I don't see it in the family

         25  history.  She's a Forsyth, basically, just her last
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          2  name, and so on.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I think what

          4  you're basically saying is, and you made a good

          5  point about the fact that after surgery that the

          6  follow- ups are very essential to do that.

          7                 MR. FORSYTH:  Right.  That's still

          8  screening in my mind.  That's still screening.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Well, you know,

         10  screening is screening, and certainly when somebody

         11  has surgery, and they aren't into the follow- up,

         12  that's a screening process, and I think I agree with

         13  you.  I really want to thank you for coming and

         14  speaking and with the experience of your cousin

         15  because your testimony is very, very important.  If

         16  you would like to sum up with a sentence or two

         17  because we're going to get on to Ms. Browne's

         18  testimony.

         19                 MR. FORSYTH:  Yes, I agree that based

         20  on the physician's determination of the person's

         21  profile, the genetic history, the family history,

         22  the genetics, if you can get the DNA testing done

         23  perhaps, the other risk factors that were discussed

         24  already, then it's important for that prospective

         25  patient to have the mammo done whether it's 40 or 45
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          2  or whatever, and as often as necessary.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I want to thank

          4  you very much for your testimony.  Ms. Browne?

          5                 MS. BROWNE:  Joyce Browne of the

          6  Upper West Side part of Manhattan.  I'd like to make

          7  a comment that nowadays in the health care field

          8  they encourage patients to participate in their

          9  care, do screenings, follow- ups, encourage the

         10  doctors to do follow- ups.  This is fairly new, but

         11  it would help people to prevent some worsening of

         12  their conditions.

         13                 So I have two things to bring to you.

         14    The first is, I was walking down the street, and I

         15  saw a sign saying dog walker, $25 an hour, sounds

         16  good.  I was looking through the Department of

         17  Health's website, school nurses, $25 an hour.  Now,

         18  to me, I was a little upset since I'm a registered

         19  nurse, have worked in the Health Department, et

         20  cetera, school nursing, et cetera.  And that's what

         21  the Health Department feels.

         22                 All you need is an ability to do CPR,

         23  you could be a dog walker, join us, be in the Health

         24  Department in the schools, be a school nurse.  So

         25  look in the Health Department website jobs, you will

                                                            93

          1  HEALTH AND WOMEN'S ISSUES COMMITTEES

          2  see, $25 an hour to be a junior public health nurse.

          3    That I was reading something, and Jefferson Tom

          4  (phonetic) our President a long time ago, said your

          5  worth is often determined by your salary.  The

          6  salary of a school nurse is $25 an hour.  They

          7  didn't put into anything about their education or

          8  training.  So which would you rather be, a dog

          9  walker who goes out in the weather, has their own

         10  thing?  Or a school nurse?  You get the same amount

         11  of money, so you would look into that?

         12                 I was looking in their website

         13  because I was looking for a job because my Social

         14  Security is less than $300 a week, so I needed a

         15  little supplement.  The only thing for a nurse is

         16  school nursing.

         17                 I had in the ex- Council Member,

         18  there was a position that is, I went to the site

         19  where they are.  That's where I started working in

         20  public health.  That's the East Harlem Health

         21  Department.  I used to be a public health nurse

         22  there, and I handed in my application because I had

         23  trouble e- mailing it.  They weren't able to receive

         24  it.  I cannot get that job even though it asked for

         25  it.  I'm an excellent nurse, have all the
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          2  qualifications, have worked in all those areas, been

          3  lauded how everybody says I'm an excellent nurse,

          4  excellent teacher.  It's not me, it's just a fact. I

          5  have nothing to do with it.  I'm an overachiever and

          6  I do nothing about it.  I'm just an overachiever.

          7                 So I have all the qualifications,

          8  handed in my resume, cover letter, went to the

          9  place, handed it in since I know it from old times.

         10  And I waited a week, called back.  I handed it in at

         11  the deadline.  They said, well, she's looking over

         12  the application.  She hasn't had time.

         13                 I looked through that Department of

         14  Health website for jobs.  They don't ask for nurses,

         15  and nurses I would think would qualify for most of

         16  those jobs.  They have the background, the training,

         17  et cetera.  The old nurses, the new ones, nursing

         18  education is horrific nowadays.  But they do not

         19  want nurses.  They want someone with very little

         20  education although they pay that person a whole lot

         21  more than they pay the school nurses.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Well, Ms. Browne,

         23  your testimony is very key because certainly in a

         24  time when we are facing a nursing shortage, which we

         25  have, I think your testimony is very valid.  Are
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          2  there are any questions from my colleagues here on

          3  the Committee?  If not, I really want to thank you

          4  because you have brought up some good stuff.

          5                 MS. BROWNE:  You're welcome.  My

          6  second thing I wanted to say.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Right, if you can

          8  just move that up a little bit.

          9                 MS. BROWNE:  Sure.  Now there is a

         10  health issue in this room.  You may just take it for

         11  granted, but if you'll see those drapes, how often

         12  are they cleaned?  What are they emitting? Look at

         13  that ceiling.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  If can interrupt

         15  you for one minute because you're hitting a very

         16  sore spot.

         17                 MS. BROWNE:  I know.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I big sore spot

         19  because ever since we have gotten into the Council,

         20  we have looked at the ceiling.  We've had paint fall

         21  on our desks when we're in session. So it's the

         22  first time I've heard public testimony about that,

         23  and I want to tell you it will go directly to the

         24  right sources.  We have asked for the drapes.  We've

         25  asked for new rugs.  We've asked for a lot.
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          2                 The one problem that we have, and

          3  this is certainly changing from what our course of

          4  direction was for the Hearing, but we'll just say it

          5  at that point, is that we need to find a permanent

          6  place, temporarily while this room is being

          7  refurbished. That has been a difficult thing to do

          8  because we need that for ourselves.  We need it for

          9  Committee Hearings.  We need it for chambers, so I

         10  can't tell you how much we welcome your comments,

         11  and we will pursue it.  You have to sum up.

         12                 MS. BROWNE:  Yes, can I add that

         13  people from all over the world come to this chamber,

         14  and this chamber is representing New York City to

         15  the world.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  The government.

         17  You're absolutely right, and I think that you have

         18  warmed my colleagues' hearts because we sit in this

         19  chamber for stated meetings and for hearings, so I

         20  really want to thank you for taking the time to come

         21  and join us.

         22                 MS. BROWNE:  And if your colleagues

         23  will just look at that Department of Health website.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Absolutely, we

         25  will.  We will indeed.  Thank you again.
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          2                 MS. BROWNE:  And you have a meeting

          3  in two days?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Yes, we do on

          5  another issue, you're right.

          6                 MS. BROWNE:  What issue?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  We have a Health

          8  Committee.  I'm not sure what that is.

          9                 MS. BROWNE:  The Chair of the

         10  Committee isn't here.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  It's on two

         12  pieces of legislation, so we'll do that, but thank

         13  you again.  If there is no further testimony, and my

         14  colleagues have no further questions, I will declare

         15  this meeting adjourned.

         16                 (Hearing concluded 3:15 p.m.)
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